

Minireview Article

EFFECTS OF PREGNANCY ON ADOLESCENT GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT

Abstract

Adolescence is a phase marked by physical, emotional and, social changes culminating with sexual development and final adult height, which occur at different stages during the second decade of life. Due to their characteristics of immaturity, impulsiveness, and tendencies to take risky behaviors with sexual activity starting earlier, adolescents are subject to becoming pregnant during the first years after menarche. This article presents some characteristics of the adolescent's growth and development and the repercussions of pregnancy on her physical growth and emotional maturity.

Keywords: Adolescent – Adolescent pregnancy – Adolescent growth – Adolescent development

Comment [D1]: Better if the title of this mini review is: EFFECTS OF PREGNANCY ON ADOLESCENT'S GROWTH, DEVELOPMENT AND HEALTH

Introduction

Adolescence is a phase marked by physical, emotional and, social changes culminating with sexual development and final adult height, which occur at different stages during the second decade of life, incorporating social independence, identity development, acquisition of skills necessary for relationships and adult roles and abstract reasoning ability [1]. Due to their emotional immaturity, some characteristics, such as the search for immediate pleasure, impulsiveness and the need to try the new, make the adolescent subject to engage in risky behaviors, with unprotected sexual activity being one of the most frequent [2].

According to the World Health Organization currently there are 1.2 billion individuals in the world between the ages of 10 and 19, approximately 600 million of whom are women. Each year, at least 10 million unintended pregnancies occur each year among adolescent girls aged 15 to 19 years in developing countries [3]. Globally, 2.5 million girls aged under 16 years give birth each year, most living in developing regions, which highlights a major public health problem as these adolescents are still in full growth and development and, obviously, not fully prepared for pregnancy [4].

Adolescent development

The most outstanding event of female puberty is the menarche (first menstrual period of women), which in addition to having a social and symbolic connotation, marks the girl's transition into adulthood. Within the broad context of adolescence, the phenomenon of puberty stands out as the event responsible for major physical changes, notably the full development of the reproductive system and which will lead the individual to his physical constitution as an adult [1,5].

The puberty is a maturational and hormonal event marked by both gonadotrophic and somatotrophic processes in which growth acceleration, development of organs and systems and changes in body composition are observed, including onset of ovulation and

spermatogenesis, with intense participation of the insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) and growth hormone (GH), which exert direct action on bones and cell proliferation[6].

The growth and maturity of the female body are directly related to several hormonal changes driven by activation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal-gonadal axis (mainly pubertal sex hormones and growth hormone, responsible for the increase of the skeleton and sexual maturation) that can start at 8 years of age and extend until 19 years, coinciding with the closing of the cartilages of conjugation of the epiphysis of long bones, which determines the end of skeletal growth and reached the final height, body composition changes, and full reproductive capacity. Although the peak in growth velocity characteristic of adolescence is reached before menarche, girls continue to grow thereafter and on average gain a further 7 cm in height before linear growth ceases [7-9].

Adolescent pregnancy

Human pregnancy is characterized by profound anatomic and physiologic changes that affect virtually all systems and organs in the body. Many of these changes begin in early gestation making this period a special biological and social time for woman with lifelong implications when occur physiological changes to accommodate the growth and development of the fetus as well as maternal body composition. During pregnancy the maternal organism undergoes changes in its hormonal physiology due to the increase in hormones like human chorionic gonadotropin, cortisol, estrogen, progesterone and prolactin, that maintains the gestation process in an organism that has not yet reached its full stage of development [10,11].

Pregnancy represents several simultaneous challenges for an adolescent, that is, her own evolving adolescence, the pregnancy and new roles that must be assumed in the family context. Both from a physiological and emotional point of view, the changes in pregnancy are superimposed on those of pubertal evolution and, therefore, it is difficult for her to meet all

these new demands [12]. In addition to various clinical conditions with risks to physical health (abnormal maternal weight gain, pregnancy-induced hypertension, anemia, lung and renal disease, puerperal endometritis, systemic infections, and some adverse pregnancy outcomes such as low birth weight, and preterm delivery), pregnant adolescents may experience stigma and discrimination and face challenging social conditions such as school dropout and economic dependence, with consequences that can last throughout their lives[4,13,14].

In addition, pregnancy is responsible for a state of tension due to expectations of the changes that are and will continue to occur, causing changes in body size, distortion of body self-image and self-esteem, and organic and emotional needs to be met.

Adolescent nutrition

Due to their diverse characteristics, adolescents can be considered nutritionally vulnerable. Since it is a period of rapid growth, adequate nutrition is crucial for achieving full growth potential, and failure to achieve optimal nutrition may lead to delayed and stunted linear growth and impaired organ remodeling [1,15,16].

The pubertal spurt causes a considerable increase in the need for energy and various nutrients. Approximately 20% of height and 50% of adult weight are gained during 4 or 5 years of puberty, since the growth in adolescence implies the expansion of tissues and organs with special nutrient needs, including amino acids for muscle growth, calcium and vitamin D to accommodate bone growth, iron for hemoglobin formation and enough energy to supply the metabolic needs and daily physical activities. Nutrition in pregnant adolescent is fundamental because their bodies are not physically ready for pregnancy and there is an increased competition for nutrients with the fetus [17]. Therefore, nutrient needs during pregnancy are higher relative to other physiological stages in life cycle, and pregnant adolescents are at higher risk for becoming stunted. Adolescents are likely to exhibit food preferences and eating

behavior that can result in poor intake of iron, zinc, folate, calcium, vitamins, and high consumption of sugar, saturated fat, and processed meals [4,18-21].

Comment [D2]: poor

Comment [D3]: consumption

Adolescent growth

The adolescent's energy needs increase from 2000 Kcal/day at the end of childhood to 2500 Kcal/day at the age of 18, which must be offered by a balanced diet that consists of 50% carbohydrates, 35% fats and 15% protein with high biological value. When the energy needs are not met, adaptive hormonal changes occur in order to direct the metabolism and energy consumption to guarantee survival, thus observing a decrease in the concentrations of IGF-1 and the binding capacity of the growth hormone with the your liver receptor. The GH/IGF axis is sensitive to less severe and transient nutritional restriction [22].

Adolescent girls often enter pregnancy with inadequate nutritional stores, and pregnancy leads to competition for dietary energy and nutrients between the fetus and the mother. Therefore, as competition for nutrients between mother and fetus in pregnancies occurs when mothers are still growing, pregnancy may limit maternal growth [7,23,24]. Many adolescents have poor diet quality and poor knowledge of appropriate nutrition; these habits may not change during pregnancy as reduce ingestion of milk and dairy products, and increased soft drinks consumption which has contributed to poor calcium intake [4,25,26].

Calcium intake, particularly during growth, is an important determinant of bone mineralization and thus bone density (Lenders). In its turn, pubertal period is a time for bone acquisition because bone mass is increasing during adolescence [27,28]. For linear growth to occur properly it is necessary for the diet to offer 1300 mg of calcium daily, which can be obtained from dairy products, mainly milk, green leafy vegetables, fish, and nuts [29]. During gestation there is an increased need for calcium in the mother to meet fetus' calcium requirements. Adequate calcium intake during pregnancy is of major importance for the health of both mother and fetus because fetal growth places high demands on maternal calcium status [30].

Comment [D4]: use consistent reference citation style

In addition to urinary loss of around 600 mg/day, calcium from the maternal circulation is actively extracted by the fetus, totaling between 25 and 30 grams during the entire gestational period[31]. Therefore, the endocrine and metabolic changes which occurs during pregnancy (increased intestinal calcium absorption and calcium absorption from bones) result in effects on the skeleton and may negatively affect bone accrual [32]. All these changes can compromise the adolescent's growth during pregnancy [4].The bone density appears to increase in both axial and appendicular sites and the matrix must then be mineralized. Nearly 40% of peak bone mass is attained during puberty [27, 33]. When calcium availability in insufficient maternal bones mineral metabolism mobilizes calcium from mother's skeleton, creating a maternal-fetal competition [29]between the still growing mother and her fetus [4].

Comment [D5]: accrual

Comment [D6]: growing

Adolescent body image and self esteem

Body image is the subjective image of individuals of their own body, regardless of the body's appearance, that comprises thoughts, feelings, assessments, and behaviors related to a person's body. Misperception of body image is a central component of several serious illnesses and can affect physical and psychological health and influence self-esteem, mood, competence, social functioning, and occupational functioning[34].

Comment [D7]: social functioning

Adolescence is a critical period in body image development. Relationships between adolescents and society have a significant impact on the development of adolescent body dissatisfaction. Body image is highly related to an individual's self-esteem and self-concept. Self-esteem can be a potential factor that reduces the possibility of negative feelings and attitudes in everyday life, allowing the adolescent to develop his activities in accordance with his physical and emotional needs[35,36].

Comment [D8]: her/his

Comment [D9]: her/his

Pregnant adolescent is more susceptible to body image distortion [37]. During their growth and development, adolescents idealize a body in the elaboration of self-image and acquisition of self-esteem, greatly influenced by the behaviors and attitudes disseminated by the media. As

they are still in the process of emotional maturation, it is difficult to understand that their reality is not always in accordance with current standards, creating difficulties to structure their personality and adjust to new social demands[38].

The changes that occur in the body of a pregnant woman (weight gain, greater deposition of fatty tissue, posture to adopt a new balance center, stretch marks, etc.) can lead the adolescent to experience low self-esteem, lack of confidence, fragility, social isolation, fear and depression[39]. This can be aggravated by the lack of family support, of the partner and friends, since the demands of a pregnant teenager cannot always be to follow the activities of the other adolescents with whom she was related[40,41].

Conclusion

Adolescent is a person considered physically, emotionally, and socially vulnerable. Adolescent pregnancy is a public health problem with medical, social, and emotional repercussions for adolescent mother, child, family, and society. In addition, nutritional deficiencies, and suboptimal linear growth in adolescence, leading to a low adult height, are poorly recognized problems. Therefore, delaying marriage and pregnancy beyond adolescence improves maternal health and birth outcomes. For this, actions are needed to prevent pregnancy during the adolescent's development period, through educational guidelines and health promotion programs, associated with improvements in the social conditions of the most vulnerable populations [42].

Delay in first pregnancy after adolescence and increased spacing after birth can provide adolescent girls with an opportunity for linear growth and emotional development [24]. It is essential to know the nutritional and emotional needs of pregnant adolescents to provide optimal care, as the adolescents most likely to become pregnant are generally those with inadequate nutritional status and unfavorable socioeconomic conditions

References

1. Das JK, Salam RA, Thornburg KL, Prentice AM, Campisi S, Zohra S et al. Nutrition in adolescents: physiology, metabolism, and nutritional needs. *Ann NY Acad Sci* 2017;1393:21–33.
2. Casey BJ, Jones RM, Hare TD. The adolescent brain. *An N York Acad Sci* 2008;1124:111-126.
3. WHO. <https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/adolescent-pregnancy> - accessed on 14 Jun 2020.
4. Lenders CM, McElrath TF, Scholl TO. Nutrition in adolescent pregnancy. *Cur Opin Pediatric* 2000;12:291–296.
5. Styne DM. The regulation of pubertal growth. *Horm Res* 2003;60(suppl 1):22–26.
6. Xu Y, Hao G, Gao B. Application of growth hormone in vitro fertilization. *Front Endocrinol* 2019;10:502-511.
7. Roche A, Davila GH. Late adolescent growth in stature. *Pediatrics* 1972;50:874-880.
8. Singleton A, Patois E, Pedron M, Roy P. Croissance de la taille, du segment superieur et du diametre biiliaque chez la filie après l'apparition des premieres regies. *Arch Franc Red* 1975;32:859-870.
9. Wallace JM. Competition for nutrients in pregnant adolescents: consequences for maternal, conceptus and offspring endocrine systems. *J Endocrinol* 2019;242:T1–T19.
10. Leppert PC. The Effect of pregnancy on adolescent growth and development. *Women Health* 1984;9:65-79.
11. Hill CC, Pickinpaugh J. Physiologic changes in pregnancy. *Surg Clin N Am* 2008;88:391-401.
12. Laurenzi CA, Gordon S, Abrahams N, du Toit S, Bradshaw M, Brand A et al. Psychosocial interventions targeting mental health in pregnant adolescents and adolescent parents: a systematic review. *Reprod Health* 2020;17:65-72.
13. Black AY, Fleming NA, Rome ES. Pregnancy in adolescents. *Adolesc Med* 2012;23:123-138.
14. Nkhoma DE, Lin C, Katengeza HL, Soko CJ, Estinfort W, Wang Y et al. Girls' empowerment and adolescent pregnancy: a systematic review. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* 2020;1664:1-14.
15. Canavan CR, Fawzi WW. Addressing knowledge gaps in adolescent nutrition: toward advancing public health and sustainable development. *Curr Dev Nutr* 2019;3:1-3.
16. Partridge SR. Current dietary advice and challenges for adolescents. *Br Med Bull* 2020;Jun 3;ldaa015. [Online ahead of print].
17. Gigante DP, Rasmussen KM, Victora CG. Pregnancy increases BMI in adolescents of a population-based birth cohort. *J Nutr* 2005;135:74–80.
18. Schneider D. International trends in adolescent nutrition. *Soc Sci Med* 2000;51:955–967.

Comment [D10]: Write in italics style

Comment [D11]: Write in italics style

Comment [D12]: Write in italics style

Comment [D13]: delete

19. Lundeen EA, Behrman JR, Crookston BT. Growth faltering and recovery in children aged 1–8 years in four low-and middle-income countries: young lives. *Public Health Nutr* 2014;17:2131–2137.
20. Teivaanmaki T, Cheung YB, Kortekangas E. Transition between stunted and nonstunted status: both occur from birth to 15 years of age in Malawi children. *Acta Paediatr* 2015;104:1278–1285.
21. Larson NI. Nutritional problems in childhood and adolescence: a narrative review of identified disparities. *Nutr Res Rev*. 2020 Apr 24:1-31. [Online ahead of print].
22. Hawkes CP, Grimberg A. Insulin-Like Growth Factor-I is a marker for the nutritional state. *Pediatr Endocrinol Rev* 2015;13:499–511.
23. Rah JH, Christian P, Shamim AA. Pregnancy and lactation hinder growth and nutritional status of adolescent girls in rural Bangladesh. *J Nutr* 2008;138:1505–1511.
24. Christian P, Smith ER. Adolescent undernutrition: global burden, physiology, and nutritional risks. *Ann Nutr Metab* 2018;72:316–328.
25. Silva JB, Elias BC, Mais LA, Warkentin S, Konstanyner T, Oliveira FLC. Factors associated with milk inadequate consumption among adolescents: National School Health Survey. *Rev Paul Pediatr* 2019;38:1-9.
26. Gómez AL, Kraemer WJ, Maresh CM, Lee EC, Szivak TK, Caldwell LK et al. Resistance training and milk-substitution enhance body composition and bone health in adolescent girls. *J Am Coll Nutr* 2020 Jun 10;1-18. [Online ahead of print].
27. Cooper C, Harvey N, Javard K, Hanson M, Denison E. Growth and bone development. *Nestle Nutr Workshop Ser Pediatr Program* 2008;61:53-68.
28. Gordon RJ, Gordon CM. Adolescents and Bone Health. *Clin Obstet Gynecol*. 2020 Jun 8. [Online ahead of print].
29. Pinho-Pompeu M, Paulino DSM, Surita FG. Influence of breakfast and meal frequency in calcium intake among pregnant adolescents. *Matern Child Nutr* 2020 Jun 8;e13034. [Online ahead of print].
30. Willemse JPMM, Meertens LJE, Scheepers HCJ, Achten NMJ, Eussen SJ, van Dongen MC et al. Calcium intake from diet and supplement use during early pregnancy: the Expect Study I. *Eur J Nutr* 2020;59:167–174.
31. Pitkin RM. Calcium metabolism in pregnancy and the perinatal period: a review. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1985;151:99-109.

Comment [D14]: Write in italics style

Comment [D15]: Write in italics style

32. Winter EM, Ireland A, Butterfielf NC, Haffner-Luntzer M, Horcajada MN, Veldhui-PunhoVlug AG *et al.* Pregnancy and lactation, a challenge for skeleton. *Endocr Connect* 2020 May 1;EC-20-0055.R1. [Online ahead of print].

Comment [D16]: Wtite in italics style

33. Zhu X, Zheng H. Factors influencing peak bone mass gain. *Front Med* 2020 Jun 9. [Online ahead of print].

34. Hosseini SA, Ranjit K. Padhy RK. Body image distortion: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2020 Jan.2019 Dec 12.

35. Alleva JM, Sheeran P, Webb TL, Martijn C, Miles E. A Meta-analytic review of stand-alone interventions to improve body image. *PLoS ONE* 2015;10:e0139177.

36. Irvine KR, McCarty K, McKenzie KJ, Pollet TV, Cornelissen KK, Tovée MJ, Cornelissen PL. Distorted body image influences body schema in individuals with negative bodily attitudes. *Neuropsychol* 2019;122:38-50.

Comment [D17]: Use *et al*

37. Šmídová S, Švancara J, Andrášková L, Šimůnek J. Adolescent body image: results of Czech Elspac Study. *Cent Eur J Public Health* 2018;26:60–66.

38. Hartman-Munick SM, Gordon AR, Guss C. Adolescent body image: influencing factors and the clinician's role. *Curr Opin Pediatr* 2020 Jun 1. [Online ahead of print].

39. Himanshu A, Kaur A, Kaur A, Singla G. Rising dysmorphia among adolescents: a cause for concern. *J Family Med Prim Care* 2020;9:567-570.

40. Zaltzman A, Falcon B, Harrison ME. Body image in adolescent pregnancy. *J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol* 2015;28:10210-8.

41. Audinet C. The physical impact of pregnancy on a teenager. *Soins Pediatr Pueric* 2016;37:22-24.

Comment [D18]: The physical

42. Patton GC, Sawyer SM, Santelli JS, Ross DA, Afifi R, Allen NB *et al.* Our future: a Lancet commission on adolescent health and wellbeing. *Lancet* 2016;387:2423–2478.

Comment [D19]: Wtite in italics style